## Refugee and migrant health in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic

# Assessment tool for response at municipal level in the WHO European Region





## REFUGEE AND MIGRANT HEALTH IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

## ASSESSMENT TOOL FOR RESPONSE AT MUNICIPAL LEVEL IN THE WHO EUROPEAN REGION

## **ABSTRACT**

This assessment tool is to support municipalities and local authorities in identifying the risks and vulnerabilities that refugees and migrants face and to identify gaps where possible methods to minimize the impact of the pandemic exist so that they can be prioritized within local policy processes. Specific challenges arise from the increased diversity in health determinants, needs and health-seeking cultures and behaviours of these populations: many refugees and migrants in vulnerable situations tend to live and work in crowded settings; experience inadequate access to water, sanitation, housing and other basic services; and often lack adequate access to health care. Given this context, a migrant-sensitive municipality is essential to promote the health and well-being of refugees and migrants during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Document number: WHO/EURO:2020-1692-41443-56496

#### © World Health Organization 2020

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition: Refugee and migrant health in the context of COVID-19 pandemic: assessment tool for response at municipal level in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization. (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/)

**Suggested citation.** Refugee and migrant health in the context of COVID-19 pandemic: assessment tool for response at municipal level in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

**Sales, rights and licensing**. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Cover photo: ©WHO/EURO

## **CONTENTS**

Acknowledgements	2
Introduction	3
Methodology	5
The assessment toolkit	6
Information to be reviewed prior to the assessment	9
Assessment questions	11
Health interventions and access to health services during the COVID-19 pandemic	11
Delivery of community-led solutions to ensure the supply of quality local services to migrant populations	17
Fostering socially cohesive communities	21
Checklist of areas to improve	
References	

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This technical guidance was developed as part of the COVID-19 Incident Management Support Team response.

The main author of the assessment tool is Rita Sá Machado with substantial contributions at all stages of tool development from experts within the Migration and Health programme of the WHO Regional Office for Europe: Elisabeth Waagensen, Yousra Hassan Gendil and Jozef Bartovic.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe also wishes to thank the following for their valuable inputs in concept development and product review:

WHO Regional Office for Europe:

Chris Brookes, Siddhartha Datta, Cetin Dogan Dikmen, Monika Kosinska, Adelheid Marschang, Dorit Nitzan, Martha Scherzer, Katie Smallwood, Adam Tiliouine and Simon Van Woerden.

WHO headquarters: Marc Zheng Jie Ho, Rifat Hussain and Santino Severoni.

UN-Habitat (United Nations Human Settlement Programme): Stephanie Loose.

International Organization for Migration: Jaime Calderon, Kolitha Prabash Wickramage and Alice Wimmer.

Members of the Healthy Cities Network (WHO European Region) with representatives from municipalities in the following countries:

Greece (Hellenic National Healthy Cities Network), Israel (Israeli National Healthy Cities Network), Italy (City of Udine; Italian National Healthy Cities Network), Sweden (Swedish National Healthy Cities Network), Turkey (Nilufa Municipality; Bursa Metropolitan Municipality) and the United Kingdom (United Kingdom National Healthy Cities Network; Lancashire County Council; Newcastle City Council).

Review and feedback were also kindly provided by the Izmir Metropolitan Municipality, Marmara Municipality Union and the Union of Municipalities of Turkey.

### INTRODUCTION

Cities are at the forefront of the SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) pandemic (1). As COVID-19 spreads across the world, some cities have become national epicentres of the pandemic, amplifying the spread and transmission of infection through their dense population and transport networks (2,3). However, they are also in a paramount position to reduce the spread and transmission of the disease through well-maintained municipal functions.

Most important, cities not only need to deal with an unprecedented public health crisis but also have to deal with the social and economic implications, which call for the implementation of exceptional measures in each phase of the emergency management cycle: preparedness and readiness, response and recovery, and for periods between epidemic peaks.

Cities are the primary destinations for refugees and migrants across the world (4). The contribution of these populations to cities is highly important, not only socially and economically but also for cultural diversity and human development. However, specific challenges also arise from the increased diversity in health determinants, needs and health-seeking cultures and behaviours of these populations (5). Many refugees and migrants in vulnerable situations tend to live and work in crowded settings; experience inadequate access to water, sanitation, housing and other basic services; and often lack adequate access to health care (6). Consequently, it is difficult for some refugees and migrants to adhere to physical distancing or to apply recommended prevention and control measures; this can lead to increased risk of contracting COVID-19. In addition, income loss can occur in the absence of social protection mechanisms, further increasing the vulnerability of these populations (6). Refugee and migrant populations may also have limited access to information because of language and cultural barriers and the marginalization of their communities.

Inclusion of the refugee and migrant population into public health actions is needed to avoid inequities and inefficiency (7). Failure to include these populations in early detection, testing, diagnosis, contact tracing and health-care access for COVID-19 may make it difficult to control the spread of the virus. It is important to ensure that health systems are sensitive to the needs of refugees and migrants and deliver affordable and accessible services (8); such services should include support to help to maintain quarantine and isolation when needed, to obtain or renew legal

documentation and to ensure easy access to appropriate housing and food and the continuation of education. This will require supportive legislation and adequate funding.

In this context, a migrant-sensitive municipality is essential to promote the health and well-being of refugees and migrants as well as the host population during the COVID-19 pandemic. This assessment tool is intended to guide municipalities to identify what areas they need to prioritize within their local policy processes in order to fulfil their role for refugee and migrant health.

### **METHODOLOGY**

A literature review was conducted using Applied Social Sciences Index and Abstracts (ASSIA), EconLit, Embase, Google Scholar, PAIS Index and SCOPUS, between 15 February 2020 and 15 May 2020; further updating occurred during the writing stage up to August 2020 because of the rapidly evolving nature of the pandemic and the regular output of information online. Search terms included combinations and variations of "covid19", "coronavirus", "SARS-CoV-2", "2019-nCoV", "municipality", "cities", "urban", "local government", "local authority", "government", "Europe", "refugee", "migrant", "immigrant", "health" and "urban health". Documents were limited to those in English, French or Russian published between December 2019 and August 2020 that pertained to policies, processes, mechanisms and funding for refugee and migrant health in municipalities of Member States of the WHO European Region during the COVID-19 pandemic. Results included national, regional and local policy frameworks and plans, including multisectoral and participative governance, the involvement and role of different stakeholders (international agencies, voluntary sector and nongovernmental organizations), funding and financing best practices, and the existence of relevant programmes and initiatives.

Materials from international organizations (e.g. the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, European Commission, International Organization for Migration, UN-Habitat (the United Nations Human Settlement Programme) and WHO), and publications on official local government websites were used to supplement the limited number of studies found in peer-reviewed journals specific to COVID-19 response at the municipality level. Further literature was identified through reference lists within identified publications and recommendations from reviewers.

The purpose of the literature review was to understand overall what economic, health and social priorities at the municipality level are currently being addressed for the COVID-19 pandemic and how these policies may be improved to ensure the health and well-being of refugees and migrants in the WHO European Region.

The process of developing the assessment tool involved validation through internal and external consultation processes with members of the Healthy Cities Network, representatives from Turkish unions and municipalities, and experts from the International Organization for Migration, UN-Habitat and WHO.

### THE ASSESSMENT TOOLKIT

#### **Aim**

The toolkit is intended to assess municipal capacity for addressing refugee and migrant health during the COVID-19 pandemic. It will support municipalities and local authorities in tracking progress against the goals in the toolkit and in ensuring that appropriate measures are in place to protect refugee and migrant health throughout the COVID-19 pandemic emergency phases.

#### **Target audience**

The toolkit is intended for stakeholders within municipalities in the WHO European Region, including those who belong to or have an influence on sectors related to health and social services, such as housing, the employment and labour market, and education.

#### Considerations in toolkit development

Important considerations that informed the development of this toolkit were as follows.

- The term refugees and migrants refers to refugees and all groups of migrants (as in other WHO documents) (9,10).
- Refugees and migrants are people who may have various degrees of vulnerability and diverse needs that are determined by their age, gender, cultural and ethnic background, their education and professional skills, their living conditions, their migration and their legal status (11).
- The health of refugees and migrants refers to all aspects of human health, including access and barriers to health services, the health care provided and physical health and mental well-being.
- The focus of the tool is on refugees and international migrants who have settled or are in transit in cities within the WHO European Region.
- The emergency cycle phases for the COVID-19 pandemic are addressed: preparedness, readiness, response and recovery.
- A Healthly Cities +(12) approach is applied to the specific public health challenges that refugees and migrants face (13) during the COVID-19 pandemic in cities (14).

Effective protection and promotion of the health of refugees and migrants who live in cities in the WHO European Region must be approached in a structured and systematic manner during the COVID-19 pandemic. Municipalities should work to conceive a systematic and robust strategy to pursue action areas, recognizing the needed context, adaptation and long-term work.

The vastly different settings of municipalities across the WHO European Region mean that not all detailed aspects can be addressed by local authorities. Nevertheless, developments in health interventions and access to services for refugees and migrants during the COVID-19 pandemic can be promoted as a whole, including delivery of community-led solutions to ensure supply of quality local services and support for socially cohesive communities.

A human-rights approach to all areas and to all pandemic actions will benefit both the public health response and the lives of refugees and migrants. Ensuring human rights are being protected during the implementation of exceptional measures by local governments and relevant stakeholders is a way of preventing harm and unintended effects within an already disproportionally affected population.

#### How to use the assessment toolkit

- **1.** Form an assessment team with members of the municipality from several sectors (administration, health, housing and urban planning, nutrition, social services, labour, finance, legal, social), representatives of the third sector/civil society, private sector and academia; representatives of refugees and migrants; and external advisors.
- **2.** Appoint an experienced coordinator as the team leader, who will supervise the overall process and be responsible for coordinating the whole assessment and ensuring that the timeline is respected.
- **3.** Have the assessment team go through the toolkit together to come to a common understanding of the approach and determine how the appropriate information will be collected. The method must ensure participatory, cross-sectoral and temporospatial data collection.
- **4.** Use the first section of the assessment to identify and describe both the city and the health, social and economic impacts of COVID-19 on the population (including refugees and migrants) in detail.

- **5.** Go through the questions within the Information to be reviewed section prior to the assessment and answer each with a short statement, including (if available) means of verification (policies, protocols, plans, lists, inventories, guidance, manuals, information, education and communication materials, or videos).
- **6.** After completing the assessment questions, mark the areas that need improvement in section containing a checklist of areas needing improvement.
- **7.** From the areas that need improvement, formulate a comprehensive list of actions needed to address the identified gaps.
- **8.** The output of this assessment can be included in the next update of the city's operational preparedness, response and recovery plan, as well as for improving future resilience.
- **9.** The assessment tool can be repeated periodically to assess and monitor the progress of the city's response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the health of refugees and migrants.

## INFORMATION TO BE REVIEWED PRIOR TO THE ASSESSMENT

COVID-19 preparedness and response plan

Functional multilevel governance coordination mechanism for COVID-19 preparedness and response

COVID-19 risk communication and community engagement plan, with an active and formal coordination mechanism

Report on COVID-19 laboratory test capacity

Report on essential health services maintained during the pandemic and its location

#### Epidemiological indicators:

- weekly number of new confirmed cases within the city/municipality, disaggregated by age group and sex
- weekly number of new confirmed deaths from COVID-19 disaggregated by region/locality, age group and sex
- weekly number of new confirmed individuals hospitalized due to COVID-19 disease, disaggregated by region/locality, age group and sex
- case fatality among confirmed COVID-19 cases, disaggregated by age group and sex
- weekly number of new confirmed COVID-19 infections in health-care workers, disaggregated by sex
- weekly number of people tested for COVID-19, disaggregated by age group and sex
- weekly ratio of positive tests for COVID-19, among all tests performed.

#### Migration status indicators (wherever available):

- weekly number of new confirmed cases nation/region and local-wide, disaggregated by country of origin
- weekly number of new confirmed cases nation/region and local-wide in refugee and asylumseeking populations

Existing national/ regional/local policies/regulations relating to refugees and migrants which cover all the areas of interest of the present assessment at municipality/region levels

Brief description of the local economy and labour market

Brief description of financing programmes/mechanisms related to international donors that work in the region, as well as local revenues

Relevant national/local data and statistics, as well as surveys and reports that include migrant data on specific issues: health and well-being, discrimination, access to services and support, skills development, economic integration, housing, education and food

Relevant national/local preparedness and response plan for public health emergencies

Structures and services that support refugee and migrant populations in health, social, legal, linguistic, educational, occupational issues: municipal/locally based regional structures or third sector

Mapping of health service providers including private, public and nongovernmental organizations

Mapping of flows of care, systems for referral, existence of protocols for this population

Existence of communication programmes to inform refugees and migrants of how to access services, health risks and health promotion

Information-sharing mechanisms between all health and non-health actors involved in providing health care to refugees and migrants

Available basic refugee and migrant data: socioeconomic status, spatial distribution

Existing Health in All Policies strategies or policies

Coherence among policies of different sectors that may affect migrants' ability to access health and social services

## **ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS**

## Health interventions and access to health services during the COVID-19 pandemic

COVID-19 early detection, testing and care

Are there any specific programmes to promote COVID-19 early detection, testing and care for refugees and migrants?

#### Support questions

- Is there any programme to promote early detection of COVID-19 infections in people in vulnerable situations, including refugees and migrants?
- Where feasible, are suspect cases in both the general population and refugee and migrant populations detected within 48 hours of symptom onset and testing performed within 24 hours of detection?
- Is COVID-19 testing and care easily accessible for refugees and migrants in your city, regardless of legal status and ability to pay?
- Is guidance made available for refugee and migrant populations, as well as relevant stakeholders, regarding care of patients with COVID-19, including self-care for those with mild COVID-19 and acute care for those with severe disease?

#### Public health management of cases and contacts

How effectively is isolation and quarantine being implemented, including for refugees and migrants, as well as monitoring of symptoms by public health teams?

#### Support questions

 Are there trained community-based response teams to immediately investigate cases and clusters, scale-up case management, conduct individual isolation of infected people and scale-up contact tracing and quarantine of contacts?

- Are contact tracing teams able to identify and follow up, and whenever possible quarantine, contacts for the 14-day incubation period of the virus in the refugee and migrant population?
- · Are high-risk communities actively engaged in contact-tracing activities?
- Does your city have temporary emergency accommodation that can be used by those who are living in places where isolation or quarantine is not possible, including refugees and migrants?
- Do refugees and migrants in isolation or quarantine have access to adequate food, water and hygiene provisions?

#### Mental health and psychosocial support

Community services not only need to be in place but refugees and migrants also need to know about them and about how to access them *(15)*.

How are community mental health support services (re-)designed and available to cover issues related to the COVID-19 pandemic (e.g. physical distancing, isolation, domestic violence, substance abuse, disadvantaged youth, job loss or unemployment), as well as those related to migration?

How are these services made available for refugees and migrants?

- Has a rapid assessment been conducted by local authorities recently of the context and of culturally specific mental health and psychosocial issues, needs and available resources?
- Has a technical working group on mental health and psychosocial support been created or adapted for the COVID-19 pandemic to support the local population, including refugees and migrants?
- Have mental health and psychosocial considerations been integrated into the local COVID-19 response activities, including for refugee and migrant populations?

- Does your city have mental health support services that deliver a strategy for those
  with COVID-19 and for survivors, contacts (particularly those in quarantine), family
  members, frontline workers and the broader community, with special attention to the
  needs of refugees and migrants?
- Is there a functioning referral pathway for people with mental health conditions that is activated between all sectors involved?
- Do refugees and migrants know of and are able to access mental health and psychosocial support services?
- Do all workers, including refugee and migrant workers, responding to COVID-19 have access to psychosocial support services?

#### Risk communication and community engagement

How are effective and appropriate risk communication actions at the municipal level being implemented to cover refugee and migrant populations?

Is there any information translated into multiple and relevant languages?

- Does your city prepare local evidence-informed messages, tailored to all subpopulation groups?
- Does your city have any health promotion materials specifically developed for refugees and migrants?
- Are there any tailored COVID-19 information materials developed specifically for refugees and migrants, targeting a group's native language?
- Does your city work with media professionals on refugee/migrant-related issues?

- Are messages being disseminated to refugee and migrant communities for preventing transmission, promoting psychosocial well-being and on how to seek out health-care support?
- Does your city have inclusive community engagement processes to motivate healthy, preventive practices within refugee and migrant populations?
- Does your city have health communication programmes for migrants? Do refugees and migrants contribute to the development process of these programmes?
- Are there any interventions that embrace information and communications technology, including mobile technology and social media, as a means to disseminate information and for refugees and migrants to actively seek information?
- Is your city communicating information about COVID-19 to travellers, including for people who visit family and relatives?
- Are systematic community feedback mechanisms established to guarantee informed response measures?

#### Migrant-sensitive health services

Are your local health services migrant-sensitive, addressing gender, age and social-based issues?

- Does your city collect relevant, comprehensive and up-to-date data on migrant health, even during the COVID-19 pandemic, in order to shape health programmes for this population for all emergency cycle phases, as well as to expand knowledge about this emerging disease?
- Do health-care providers have recourse to information about the higher burden of some diseases in specific migrant groups, and how some diseases can affect their COVID-19 outcomes?

- Are plain-language health information initiatives being implemented for navigation of the health-care system, specifically for COVID-19?
- Does your city promote stakeholder dialogue (relevant advocates, agencies and community organizations and partnerships) in the development and design of health services and programmes for migrants, even during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- Are migrant women involved in the design of health programmes and as mediators to support migrants in making the best use of COVID-19 health services?
- Are child-friendly spaces provided at health-care facilities, in line with COVID-19 recommendations?
- Do migrants continue to have access to essential health services, including immunization and screening programmes, diagnosis, treatment and follow-up for noncommunicable diseases and other acute or long-term health needs?
- Are specific health services provided at community level to reduce barriers of costs and transportation for refugees and migrants? If needed, are there any referral mechanisms in place for this population?
- Are interpretation services provided and guaranteed in health care or for individuals who require support (in person, via video or via telephone)?

## Competent health workforce responsive to refugees' and migrants' needs

The workforce may need training regarding community-based health care for refugees and migrants in relation to COVID-19 (16).

Are there any specific training programmes for health professionals and/or other supporting professions covering refugee and migrant health that are already in place but further adapted to COVID-19 challenges?

#### Support questions

- Does your city have specific training programmes for health professionals and other frontline workers, regarding COVID-19?
- Do refugees and migrant health professionals also participate in training programmes?
- Are professionals trained to deal with isolation and quarantine, psychosocial care principles, psychological first aid and how to make referrals when needed?

#### Health and safety of migrant health-care workers

In some cities, migrants can make up a considerable share of workers delivering acute and long-term care (17-20), home care, cleaning and transportation services and may work in many other auxiliary professions (21). They may be more vulnerable to the COVID-19 pandemic than host populations through the type of work that they do, through having lower wages and through having more informal job arrangements and precarious working conditions (22,23).

Consequently, they may be particularly at risk of losing their income (24,25) and need more support (26).

Are there any specific provisions to ensure the health and safety of refugee and migrant workers in these settings during the COVID-19 pandemic?

- Are there any programmes to ensure that refugees and migrants who work in health and social services are trained to implement infection prevention and control activities?
- Does your stockpile and distribution chain for personal protective equipment cover the capacity needed for infection prevention and control, including auxiliary professions at risk?
- Are assessments being completed to certify standard precautions for all patients at all times, as well as that administrative, environmental and engineering controls are implemented?
- If quarantine or isolation is needed, is your city taking any measures to ensure that refugee and migrant health-care workers do not lose their jobs or their remuneration?
- If quarantine or isolation is needed, is your city making any arrangements to ensure that refugee and migrant health-care workers have an adequate place for this?

## Delivery of community-led solutions to ensure the supply of quality local services to migrant populations

#### Housing

What is local government doing to guarantee access to and availability of adequate housing, including measures to increase housing affordability and security for the general population and for refugees and migrants as many people have been pushed into hardship during the COVID-19 pandemic?

#### Support questions

- Does your city implement any arrangement to support refugees and migrants who are suffering economic hardship because of the COVID-19 crisis or have worsened financial problems? This can include:
  - cessations on evictions if unable to pay rent or mortgage;
  - introduction of rental stabilization or reduction measures;
  - suspension of utility costs and supplements;
  - development of contingency plans to prevent economic challenges for landlords;
     and
  - adequate temporary shelter for the homeless or survivors of violence, among others.
- Does your city assist or work with other governmental or nongovernmental service providers to help migrants to access affordable and adequate housing?
- Are refugees and migrants included in local participatory decision-making process regarding adequate housing?

#### Nutrition and food supply

As many restrictions have been put in place in cities within the WHO European Region as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, some municipalities have taken steps to ensure that emergency food assistance is in place for vulnerable populations, as well as for people isolated or in quarantine (27).

Are there any specific programmes or mentions of refugees and migrants in existing programmes that ensure access to adequate nutrition and food security during the COVID-19 pandemic?

#### Support questions

- Are refugees and migrant populations guaranteed adequate nutrition when in isolation and quarantine, particularly those living in migrant accommodation facilities? If not, do they have access to affordable and nutritious food and clean water?
- Does your city continue to support children fed through school food programmes, providing alternative options or continued provision of daily nutrition?
- How is your city supporting and protecting the health of migrant workers employed in agri-food systems and mitigating possible disruptions to the food supply, especially for vulnerable populations including refugee and migrant workers?

#### **Education**

Do refugees and migrants have access to education during COVID-19? What are the measures taken to ensure that any initiatives facilitate access for refugees and migrants to overcome potential barriers?

- Is access to education, including preschool, ensured for refugee and migrant children?
   Are there any residency or registration requirements?
- Does your city have programmes in place to continue school activities, even if it is as an online modality? Are these programmes inclusive of refugee and migrant children, who might have constraints due to language, access to electronic equipment or connectivity barriers?
- Are there continued learning opportunities accessible for migrants?

- Does your city develop plans to promote the return of children to school that include refugee and migrant children? Specific measures could include:
  - back-to-school campaigns
  - catch-up courses and accelerated learning options
  - delivery of mental health and psychosocial support services by the school
  - procedures in place in case any students or staff develop symptoms.

#### Employment and labour market

How does local government, as an employer, promote better working environments and job security, including for refugees and migrants?

How has the municipality supported local employers to maintain an open labour market, including for refugees and migrants?

- Does your city perform assessments to identify and monitor refugee and migrant health for specific needs in employment and the labour market?
- Does your city provide socioeconomic support to cover the basic needs for employees and families affected by COVID-19, including refugees and migrants?
- Does your city have any local measures implemented to help refugees and migrants to continue accessing job opportunities?
- Are there continued skills development opportunities accessible for migrants?
- Does your city maintain assistance or work with other governmental or nongovernmental service providers (job centres, recruitment agencies) to help migrants to find and keep work?
- Are there opportunities for local businesses to start up?
- Does your city establish a programme to keep specific workplaces open, including the ones owned or managed by refugees and migrants?
- Does your city have in place local services such as affordable childcare to help migrants to find and keep work and was this provision continued during the COVID-19 pandemic?

- Does your city have a specific programme that allows seasonal workers to migrate during the pandemic or extend their residency permit?
- Does your city reduce the use of non-essential workspaces or implemented staggered work times for essential services?

#### **Finance**

Are there any financing activities or programmes for local authorities to rethink and reshape urban development (e.g. public transport or housing) during the COVID-19 pandemic that specifically take refugees and migrants into account?

#### Support questions

- Are refugees and migrants included in local participatory decision-making processes regarding financial activities in times of COVID-19 (e.g. establishment of mutual aid fund to help those in greater need; production of protection and hygiene material for health professionals)?
- Does your city implement any financial support programme for local businesses impacted by COVID-19?
- Does your city implement any cash or voucher assistance programme, and does it include refugees and migrants as eligible population?

#### Legal status

Even though documentation status and access to health care care are usually national policies, municipalities can advocate for measures to ensure that migrants are entitled to health care regardless of their documentation status.

How is your municipality ensuring that refugees and migrants receive appropriate and adequate support to acquire documented status during the COVID-19 restrictions?

#### Support questions

 Does your city assist or work with any service providers to maintain support to migrants to obtain documented status? If these services are now online, can refugees and migrants access them?

- Does your city ensure adequate, timely, reliable and accessible consular documentation for refugees and migrants despite COVID-19 associated-restrictions, including identity and travel documents, making use of information and communications technology as well as community outreach?
- Are plain-language information initiatives available concerning how to navigate the system and are they implemented in different languages?
- Are there any measures in place to ensure that migrants without proof of nationality or legal identity are not precluded from accessing basic services or denied their rights?
- Is your city advocating or implementing (if it has the mandate) access to health care for migrants regardless of documentation status?
- Has your city made or changed any administrative procedures for the protection of migrants working in the informal sector (preventing registration and data sharing with immigration agencies) in the interest of providing access to health care?
- Does your city raise awareness among local services/professionals about the legal status and rights of refugees and migrants?

#### Fostering socially cohesive communities

#### Protection from stigma and discrimination

How are refugees and migrants protected from stigma and discriminatory actions during this public health emergency?

- Does your city have in place campaigns against stigma and discrimination related to COVID-19?
- Does your city provide mental health and psychosocial support services that address stigma and discrimination?
- Does your city promote capacity-building to individuals facing stigmatization, including refugees and migrants?

## Accountable and coordinated multisectoral, intersectoral and multilevel approaches

Is multilevel governance coordination implemented in your municipality for refugee and migrant health?

Is there an accountability mechanism in place that allows municipalities to monitor intersectoral actions for the realization of a socially cohesive community?

- · Does your city have a migrant health focal point?
- Does your city work with other sectors to address socioeconomic issues associated with negative health outcomes (e.g. poverty, poor living conditions, unemployment and need to support families) specifically tailored for refugees and migrants?
- Does your city activate multilevel governance coordination mechanisms to support COVID-19 emergency preparedness and response at all levels? Does this mechanism include refugee and migrant populations and relevant stakeholders?
- Does your city incorporate the health needs of refugees and migrants in local policies and plans, including ones produced during the COVID-19 pandemic?
   Have refugees and migrants been involved in the development of these plans?
- Are there any barriers to the participation of refugees and migrants?
- Have metrics and monitoring and evaluation systems been established to assess the effectiveness and impact of planned actions, including the ones tailored for refugees and migrants?
- Has your city mapped community measures and resources available for COVID-19 response?
- Does your city have ways to provide feedback on an ongoing basis to the host community and refugee and migrant populations?
- Are there any independent institutions that receive, investigate and monitor complaints about situations in which refugees and migrants are denied or hindered from accessing essential services?

#### Social inclusion

What are the programmes and mechanisms in place to facilitate social integration/inclusion of refugees and migrants?

Have these programmes and mechanisms continued during this public health emergency?

#### Support questions

- Does your city have an established programme for migrants to inform them about rights and obligations, social norms and customs of the community? Has this programme continued to occur during all phases of the pandemic, even in an informal way?
- Does your city support multicultural activities to facilitate understanding and acceptance of cultural differences? During COVID-19, have these activities continued, complying with public health measures (e.g. online)?
- Has your city implemented culturally sensitive parent-support programmes?
- Does your city have a range of intergenerational and diaspora networks to work as sources of emotional, financial and practical support for refugees and migrants? Have these networks assisted also during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- Are there any social enterprises run by refugees and migrants in the community that provide important resources of engagement and social participation?
- Are there any actors from the private sector, academia or civil society providing important resources for engagement and social participation?
- Does your city promote the integration/inclusion and cultural exchange between refugees and migrants and the wider community? How is this maintained during the COVID-19 pandemic?

#### Involvement of the third sector

The third sector (voluntary and community sectors) plays a fundamental part in rebuilding and restructuring local communities, including those of, or containing, refugees and migrants.

How is the third sector integrated and supported during the COVID-19 pandemic?

#### Support questions

- Does your city implement any financial programme to assist the voluntary and community sectors supporting refugees and migrants during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- Does your city support any activity run by the third sector that aim to assist refugees and migrants who have confirmed COVID-19 or are contacts of someone with confirmed COVID-19?
- Is the third sector involved in the development of local policies and plans?
- Does the third sector participate in multisectoral and intersectoral bodies?

#### Empowerment of communities and individuals

How are refugees and migrants supported, encouraged and empowered to participate in processes and forums in order to have a voice and also have influence on decisions that affect their health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic preparedness, response and recovery periods?

- Are refugees and migrants able to contribute locally to decisions that affect them? How
  is this being ensured during COVID-19 restrictions?
- How are refugees and migrants represented in local councils?
- Does your city actively work with refugees and migrant communities to understand their needs during COVID-19?
- Do local community groups allow refugees and migrants to get involved?
- Are there any barriers to the participation of refugees and migrants in local communities and wider throughout the city?

## CHECKLIST OF AREAS TO IMPROVE

After completing the assessment questions, mark areas that need improvement and develop a plan of action to address each area.

Health interventions and access to health services during the COVID-19 pandemic

COVID-19 early detection, testing and care
Public health management of cases and contacts
Mental health and psychosocial support
Risk communication and community engagement
Migrant-sensitive health services
Competent health workforce responsive to refugees' and
migrants' needs
Health and safety of migrant health-care workers

Delivery of community-led solutions to ensure supply of quality local services to migrant populations

Housing
Nutrition and food supply
Education
Employment and labour market
Finance
Legal status (documentation status and legal/judicial support

### Fostering socially cohesive communities

Protection from stigma and discrimination
Accountable and coordinated multisectoral, intersectoral
and multilevel approaches
Social inclusion
Involvement of third sector
Empowerment of communities and individuals

### REFERENCES

- COVID-19 in an urban world. New York: United Nations; 2020
   (https://www.un.org/en/coronavirus/COVID 19-urban-world, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 2. The WHO European Healthy Cities Network: a response to the COVID-19 pandemic close to the people. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/who-european-healthy-cities-network/the-who-european-healthy-cities-network-a-response-to-the-COVID 19-pandemic-close-to-the-people, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 3. Strengthening preparedness for COVID-19 in cities and other urban settings: interim guidance for local authorities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331896/WHO-2019-nCoV-Urban\_preparedness-2020.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 4. World migration report 2020. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2019 (https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/wmr\_2020.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 5. Cross-border human mobility amid and after COVID-19. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2020 (https://www.iom.int/sites/default/files/defaul/pp\_cross-border\_human\_mobility\_amid\_and\_after\_COVID 19\_policy.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 6. Wahba S, Vapaavuori J. A functional city's response to the COVID-19 pandemic. In: World Bank blogs [website]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2020 (https://blogs.worldbank.org/sustainablecities/functional-citys-response-COVID 19-pandemic, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 7. Patel P, Hiam L, Orcutt M, Burns R, Devakumar D, Aldridge R et al. Policy brief. Including migrants and refugees in the British Government's response to COVID-19. London: Lancet Migration; 2020 https://www.medbox.org/pdf/5f1ed02147f2207bad6814d9, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 8. Interim guidance for refugee and migrant health in relation to COVID-19 in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0008/434978/Interim-guidance-refugee-and-migrant-health-COVID 19.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 9. Key migration terms. Geneva: International Organization for Migration; 2020 (https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms, accessed 1 December 2020).

- 10. UNHCR master glossary of terms. Geneva: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees; 2006 (Rev. 1; https://www.refworld.org/docid/42ce7d444.html, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 11. Principles and guidelines, supported by practical guidance, on the human rights protection of migrants in vulnerable situations. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2018 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Migration/PrinciplesAndGuidelines.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 12. Healthly Cities. In: Health topics [website]. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013 (https://www.who.int/healthpromotion/healthy-cities/en/, accessed 9 December 2020).
- 13. Health 2020: multisectoral action for the health of migrants. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2016 (https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/324627/Health-2020-Multisectoral-action-for-the-health-of-migrants-en.pdf?ua=1, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 14. Practical actions in cities to strengthen preparedness for the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-ActionsforPreparedness-Checklist-2020.1, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 15. Mental health promotion and mental health care in refugees and migrants.

  Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018

  (https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0004/386563/mental-health-eng.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 16. Riza E, Kalkman S, Coritsidis A, Koubardas S, Vassiliu S, Lazarou D et al. Community-based healthcare for migrants and refugees: a scoping literature review of best practices. Healthcare). 2020;8(2):115. doi: 10.3390/healthcare8020115.
- 17. Sowa-Kofta A, Rodrigues R, Lamura G, Sopadzhiyan A, Wittenberg R, Bauer G et al. Long-term care and migrant care work: addressing workforce shortages while raising questions for European countries. Eurohealth. 2019;25(4):15–18. doi: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332496.
- 18. Contribution of migrant doctors and nurses to tackling COVID-19 crisis in OECD countries. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2020 (https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/contribution-of-migrant-doctors-and-nurses-to-tackling-COVID-19-crisis-in-oecd-countries-2f7bace2/, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 19. Kuhlmann E, Falkenbach M, Klasa K, Pavolini E, Ungureanu M-I. Migrant carers in Europe in times of COVID-19: a call to action for European health workforce governance and a public health approach. Eur J Public Health. 2020;30(4):22–7. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckaa126.

- 20. Arkesden J, Davison S, Fenton W, Fozzard T, Griffiths D, McCaffrey R et al. The adult social care sector and workforce. Leeds: Skills for Care; 2019 (https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/documents/Regional-reports/London-regional-report-2019.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 21. Immigrant key workers: their contribution to Europe's COVID-19 response.

  Luxembourg: European Commission; 2020

  (https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu/publication/immigrant-key-workers-their-contribution-europes-covid-19-response en, accessed 19 November 2020).
- 22. Fasani F, Mazza J. A vulnerable workforce: migrant workers in the COVID-19 pandemic. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2020 (https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC120730/a\_vulnerable\_w orkforce\_migrant\_workers\_in\_the\_covide19\_pandemic\_online.pdf, accessed 19 November 2020).
- 23. Behtoui A, Boréus K, Neergaard A, Yazdanpanah S. Why are care workers from the global south disadvantaged? Inequality and discrimination in Swedish elderly care work, Ethnic Racial Stud. 2020;43:155–174. doi: 10.1080/01419870.2020.1734220.
- 24. Leichsenring K, Staflinger H, Bauer A. The situation of "24-hour care" from the perspective of migrant caregivers in Austria. In: LTCcovid.org [website]. London: International Long-Term Care Policy Network, CPEC-LSE; 2020 (https://ltccovid.org/2020/04/08/the-situation-of-24-hour-care-from-the-perspective-of-migrant-caregivers-in-austria/, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 25. Leiblfinger M, Prieler V, Schwiter K, Steiner J, Benazha A, Lutz H. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on live-in care workers in Germany, Austria and Switzerland. J Long Term Care. 2020:144–50. doi: 10.31389/jltc.51.
- 26. Promoting the health of migrant workers in the WHO European Region during COVID-19. Interim guidance. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336549/WHO-EURO-2020-1384-41134-55925-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, accessed 1 December 2020).
- 27. Cullen M. COVID-19 and the risk to food supply chains: how to respond? Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2020 (http://www.fao.org/3/ca8388en/CA8388EN.pdf, accessed 1 December 2020).

#### The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

#### **Member States**

Albania

Andorra

Armenia

Austria

Azerbaijan

Belarus

**Belgium** 

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Bulgaria

Croatia

Cyprus

Czechia

Denmark

**Estonia** 

Finland <u>Fran</u>ce

Georgia

Germany

Greece

Hungary

Iceland

Ireland

Israel

Italy

itaty

Kazakhstan

Kyrgyzstan

Latvia

Lithuania

Luxembourg

Malta

Monaco

Montenegro

Netherlands

North Macedonia

**Norway** 

Poland

Portugal

Republic of Moldova

Romania

**Russian Federation** 

San Marino

Serbia

Slovakia

Slovenia

Spain

Sweden

Switzerland

Tajikistan

Turkey

Turkmenistan

Ukraine

United Kingdom Uzbekistan WHO/EURO:2020-1692-41443-56496

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51,

DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01

Email: eurocontact@who.int Website: www.euro.who.int